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William J. Brown, as Receiver (“Receiver”) of McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc.
(“MS & Co.”), respectfully submits this Supplement (“Supplement”) to his Third Motion
for an Order Disallowing Certain Claims (Broker Claims) (Docket No. 984) (“Motion”).!

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This Supplement is filed to address recent developments relating to the Broker
Claims resulting from the U.S. Supreme Court’s Lucia decision?, the resulting Offers of
Settlement submitted by the former MS & Co. brokers who are the subject of the Motion,
and the Securities and Exchange Commission Order Making Findings and Imposing
Remedial Sanctions, etc. issued by the Commission on December 21, 2018 as a result of the
brokers’ Offers of Settlement, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A.

On March 19, 2018, the Receiver filed the Motion for an Order disallowing or
equitably subordinating the claims in this case of Frank H. Chiappone (“Chiappone”),
William F. Lex (“Lex”), and Philip S. Rabinovich (“Rabinovich,” and collectively with
Chiappone and Lex, the “Brokers”), along with claims of a related party. The Motion was
premised on factual findings made previously by the Chief Administrative Law Judge in the
SEC’s administrative proceeding (“Broker Proceeding”) against a number of former
McGinn Smith brokers including the Brokers.

In the wake of the Supreme Court’s Lucia opinion, which was decided after
the Chief Administrative Law Judge issued her findings and rulings against the Brokers, the
Broker Proceeding was remanded for reassignment to a different administrative law judge

for a new trial in accordance with the holding of Lucia.

! Only one Broker, Chiappone, submitted an objection to the Motion (Docket No. 995), which was not filed
timely.
2Lucia v. SEC, 138 S.Ct. 2044 (2018).
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As part of a settlement with the Brokers and to avoid a lengthy re-trial -- the
first trial lasted eighteen days -- the SEC entered on December 21, 2018 an Order Making
Findings and Imposing Remedial Sanctions, which found that the Brokers violated sections
17(a)(2) and (a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933.

Notwithstanding the reassignment of the Broker Proceeding and the
Commission’s December 21, 2018 Order, the relief sought by the Receiver in the Motion
remains the same as explained below. The claims of the Brokers should be disallowed or
equitably subordinated due to the Brokers’ conduct: the Brokers (i) ignored certain “red
flags” that should have prompted further inquiry, (ii) aided in the implementation of a Ponzi
scheme, and (iii) failed their duty to investors (their clients) to investigate the products that
they were selling. Accordingly, the Brokers should not be permitted to stand with the
innocent investors who were harmed by the Brokers’ conduct and share in their recovery.

BACKGROUND

On September 23, 2013, the SEC commenced the Broker Proceeding by
issuing an Order Instituting Administrative and Cease-and-Desist Proceedings as to certain
registered representatives who sold MS & Co. private placements in the Four Funds and the
Trust Offerings. Donald. J. Anthony, Jr., et al., Order Instituting Proceedings Release No. 33-
9454 (Sept. 23, 2013), 107 SEC Docket 5 (“OIP”).> Among those registered representatives
named in the Broker Proceeding were Frank H. Chiappone, William F. Lex, and Philip S.
Rabinovich. In the Broker Proceeding, the SEC alleged that the Brokers violated the

securities laws by knowingly or recklessly recommending MS & Co. unregistered offerings

* The statement of facts at pages 2 through 11 of the Memorandum of Law in Support of Third Motion of
William J. Brown, as Receiver, for an Order Disallowing Certain Claims (Broker Claims) (Docket No. 985)
(“Memorandum”) is incorporated as if set forth herein. Any terms not defined herein shall have the meaning
given to them in the Memorandum.
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to clients with no reasonable basis for the recommendation and knowing of red flags. OIP at
5.

On February 25, 2015, after eighteen days of hearings, the Chief
Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) entered an Initial Decision (“Initial Decision”) finding
that each of the Brokers willfully violated the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and Rule
10b-5 through their sales of private placements in the Four Funds and the Trust Offerings.
Donald. J. Anthony, Jr., et al., Initial Decision Release No. 745 (Feb. 25, 2015), 110 SEC
Docket 19, modified by Order on Motions to Correct Manifest Errors of Fact in the Initial
Decision, Administrative Proceedings Release No. 2528 (Apr. 9, 2015), 111 SEC Docket 5
(“ID). The Brokers petitioned the SEC for review of the ALJ’s Initial Decision and, on
May 21, 2015, the SEC granted the Brokers’ petitions. Frank Chiappone, et al., Order
Granting Petitions for Review and Scheduling Briefs Release No. 33-9790 (May 21, 2015),
111 SEC Docket 11. On August 15, 2017, oral argument on the Brokers’ appeals was held
before the SEC. Frank Chiappone, et al., Order Scheduling Oral Argument Release No. 33-
10382 (Jun. 30, 2017), 117 SEC Docket 1.

On March 19, 2018, before the SEC ruled on the Brokers’ appeals, the
Receiver filed the Motion for an Order disallowing or equitably subordinating the claims of
the Brokers and a related party (collectively, the “Broker Claims”), which Broker Claims are
described in greater detail on Exhibit A to the Motion. The Receiver sought to disallow or
equitably subordinate the Broker Claims on the grounds that the Brokers sold private
placements to unsuspecting investors in the Four Funds and the Trust Offerings while

ignoring various “red flags” surrounding the offerings and the operations of MS & Co. See
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Memorandum at 13-17. In support of the relief requested in the Motion, the Receiver relied
on the ALJ’s factual findings as set forth in the Initial Decision.
On June 21, 2018, after the Motion was filed, the Supreme Court of the

United States handed down its decision in Lucia, holding that SEC administrative law

judges were subject to the Appointments Clause of the Constitution and requiring that
administrative law judges be appointed by the President, “Courts of Law,” [or] “Heads of
Department.” Lucia v. S.E.C., 138 S. Ct. at 2055. Thus, any defendant in an SEC
proceeding who was tried before an administrative law judge not appointed by one of the
appropriate parties was entitled to a new hearing before a properly appointed administrative
law judge. Id.

In accordance with the holding in Lucia, on October 1, 2018, the SEC

remanded the Broker Proceeding for reassignment to a new administrative law judge.
Donald. J. Anthony, Jr., et al., Order Release No. 6123 (Oct. 1, 2018). On December 21,
2018, as part of a settlement with the Brokers and to avoid an extensive re-trial, the SEC
entered the Order Making Findings and Imposing Remedial Sanctions and a Cease-and-
Desist Order Pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Sections 15(b) and
21C of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Order”), attached as Exhibit A. Frank H.
Chiappone, et al., Order Release No. 10595 (Dec. 21, 2018).

The Order found that the Brokers violated Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of
the Securities Act of 1933 by “negligently failing to perform sufficient due diligence to form
a reasonable basis for their recommendations of the Four Funds and Trust Offerings to their
customers.” Order at 5. The Order referred to several “red flags” that should have caused

the Brokers to conduct additional inquires with respect to the private placements in the Four
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Funds and the Trust Offerings that they sold. The Order described conflicts of interest
disclosed in the private placement memoranda (“PPMs”) for the Four Funds, as well as the
total control held by Smith over the disposition of investor funds, without oversight or
control, that should have caused the Brokers to make further, specific inquiries before
recommending the Four Funds to their customers. Order at 6.

Further, the Order found that the accumulation of “red flags” since the
launch of the Four Funds in 2003 should have caused the Brokers to have conducted
additional inquiries with respect to any MS & Co. private placements, including the Trust
Offerings. Order at 7. The Order also found that the PPMs for the Trust Offerings should
have raised additional red flags that should have caused the Brokers to make further
inquiries regarding the Trust Offerings, such as inconsistencies in how the Trust Offerings
would make interest payments and redeem principal. Id.

Finally, the Order found that the Brokers failed to check publicly available
information regarding the offering for Firstline Trust: Firstline Trust loaned the proceeds of
investments in Firstline Trust to a company called Firstline Securities, Inc., which filed for
Chapter 11 bankruptcy in the Bankruptcy Court for the District of Utah in January 2008.
Order at 7. The Brokers continued to sell placements in Firstline Trust after the bankruptcy
filing and remained unaware of the filing until it was disclosed to them in September, 2009.
1d.

The Order held that, as a result of the Brokers’ conduct, the Brokers violated
Section 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933. Pursuant to the Order, the
Brokers are to disgorge the commissions earned on sales of private placements to the

Receiver: Chiappone is ordered to disgorge $23,329, with prejudgment interest of
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$3,181.49; Lex is ordered to disgorge $72,726, with prejudgment interest of $9,918.02; and
Rabinovich is ordered to disgorge $53,029, with prejudgment interest of $7,231.84. Order at
9.

SUPPLEMENT

The Lucia decision created an extraordinary situation as evidenced by the fact
that on December 21, 2018, the Commission approved the Broker settlement along with
thirteen other decisions settling other cases requiring retrial as a result of the Lucia decision.

The findings of the Commission’s Order with regard to the Broker’s conduct
are similar to the ones contained in the Chief Administrative Law Judge’s Order --
numerous red flags and ignoring the duty to investigate. Due to the Supreme Court’s
Kokesh* decision, the penalties imposed by the Commission’s Order reduced the amount of
the penalties since a five-year statute of limitations now applied which resulted in a
restricted amount of potential disgorgement by the Brokers. The Brokers cannot deny that
the Commission’s Order (Part I1I) contains findings by the Commission based upon a
robust factual record. It is also based upon prior sworn testimony. The investor losses as a
result of the Brokers’ conduct remains significant.

Consistent with the entry of the Order in settlement of the SEC’s claims
against the Brokers, the Receiver maintains that the Broker Claims should be disallowed or
equitably subordinated. By failing to investigate in the face of red flags and selling private
placements in the implementation of a Ponzi scheme, the Brokers exposed numerous
investors to harm. Accordingly, the Brokers should not be permitted to share in any

recovery with innocent investors.

4 Kokesh v. SEC, 137 S. Ct. 1635 (2017).
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District courts have used their discretion to exclude claimants from receiving
distributions where such claimants were involved in the “development, implementation,
and/or marketing” of a fraudulent Ponzi scheme. See S.E.C. v. Byers, 637 F.Supp.2d 166,
183 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (approving distribution plan where employees who actively
participated in a Ponzi scheme were excluded from receiving distributions). District courts
have also approved distribution plans where defendants in an underlying SEC action
received no recovery and non-defendant investors who received significant commissions
had their claims reduced by ninety percent. S.E.C. v. Basic Energy & Affiliated Resources, Inc.,
273 F.2d 657, 660 (6th Cir. 2001). Courts have also approved distribution plans disallowing
claims of investors who participated in a Ponzi scheme by acting recklessly when they
should have realized, from the facts they knew, “that there [was] a strong probability that
harm may result.” See S.E.C. v. Forte, Civil Nos. 09-63, 09-64, 2012 WL 1719145 at *3
(E.D.Pa. May 16, 2012).

The Broker’s conduct in assisting the implementation of McGinn’s and
Smith’s Ponzi scheme is a basis for disallowance of the Broker Claims. The Brokers ignored
numerous red flags that should have prompted them to conduct further inquiries and
continued to sell private placements. Order at 6-7. By selling private placements in the
Four Funds and the Trust Offerings to unknowing investors (all while ignoring various red
flags), the Brokers helped to implement of the Ponzi scheme and caused harm to numerous
investors—indeed, investor losses in the Four Funds and the Trust Offerings exceeded $87
million. Id. at 5. Finally, in failing to conduct any due diligence, in spite of the red flags
described in the Order, the Brokers should have known the was a “strong probability” for

harm to result to the investors who were relying on the Brokers’ recommendations.
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A district court also has “the authority to subordinate the claims of certain
investors to ensure equal treatment.” S.E.C. v. Wealth Mgmt. LLC, 628 F.3d 323, 333 (7th
Cir. 2010). While equitable subordination is a concept that derives from bankruptcy case
law, the district court has “the equitable power to subordinate one claim to another if it
finds that the creditor’s claim, while not lacking a lawful basis nonetheless results from
inequitable behavior on the part of that creditor.” S.E.C. v. Am. Bd. of Trade, 719 F.Supp.
186, 196 (S.D.N.Y. 1986) (internal quotation omitted). To equitably subordinate a claim,
(1) the claimant must have engaged in some type of inequitable conduct and (2) the
misconduct must have caused injury to the creditors. S.E.C. v. Spongetech Delivery Sys., Inc.,
98 F. Supp. 3d 530, 551 (E.D.N.Y. 2014).° Inequitable conduct includes “breach of
fiduciary or other legally recognized duties.” Id. at 553.

Brokers have a duty to investigate the securities that they recommend to their
clients: “Brokers and salesmen are under a duty to investigate . . . . Thus, a salesman
cannot deliberately ignore that which he has a duty to know and recklessly state facts about

matters of which he is ignorant.” Hanly v. S.E.C., 415 F.2d 589, 594-96 (2d Cir. 1969).°

5 Courts have held that negligence alone is not a sufficient basis for imposing equitable subordination. See In re
Sentinel Management Gryp., Inc., 809 F.3d 958, 965 (7th Cir. 2016). Here, however, the SEC was required to
prove at least negligence in order to show a violation of sections 17(a)(2) and (a)(3) of the Securities Act. SEC
v. Jankovic, No. 15 Civ. 1248, 2017 WL 1067788, at *14 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 21, 2017). Although the Order finds
that the Brokers acted negligently in violation of the Securities Act of 1933, they also acted inequitably by
failing in their duty to investors to investigate the securities recommended to their clients. See Hanly v. S.E.C.,
415 F.2d 589, 594-96 (2d Cir. 1969).

¢ Courts have distinguished the holding in Hanly, holding that a broker’s duty to investigate may not be
applicable in private civil actions brought for damages against brokers predicated on the broker’s negligence.
See, e.g., Anwar v. Fairfield Greenwich Ltd., No. 09-cv-118 (VM), 2015 WL 10791912 at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 13,
2015) (holding that Hanly was not applicable to case at hand, where damages were being sought in a civil
action); Smith v. Questar Capital Corp., No. 12-cv-2669 (SRN/TNL), 2013 WL 3990319 at *12 n.5 (D. Minn.
Aug. 2, 2013) (holding Hanly inapplicable to private civil action seeking damages based on negligence of
broker firm); BNP Paribas Mortg. Corp. v. Bank of Am., N.A., 866 F.Supp.2d 257, 267 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) (same).
In the case at bar, the Receiver is not seeking damages due to the broker’s negligence in failing to fulfill their
duty to investigate, but rather is seeking to equitably subordinate the Broker Claims due to the Brokers’
inequitable conduct.
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“When recommending specific securities, a broker . . . cannot rely solely on the materials
submitted by the issuer or given to him by his employer.” S.E.C. v. Platinum Inv. Corp., No.
02 Civ. 6093(JSR), 2006 WL 2707319 at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 20, 2006).

If not disallowed, the Broker Claims should be equitably subordinated to the
claims of innocent investors. Under securities law, the Brokers had a duty to investigate the
Four Funds and the Trust Offerings that they recommended to their clients, and they could
not rely solely on the information given to them by McGinn and Smith. As described in the
Order, the Brokers failed this duty by ignoring numerous red flags that should have
prompted them to inquire further about the private placements that they were selling. By
failing their duty to investors, the Brokers acted inequitably. This inequitable conduct led to
indisputable harm to innocent investors, who unknowingly invested millions of dollars in
the Ponzi scheme. Thus, if not disallowed, the Broker Claims may be equitably
subordinated to those claims of innocent investors.

At the very least, the Brokers should not be permitted to recover the amounts
that the Order requires them to disgorge to the Receiver. The remedy of disgorgement is
intended to “prevent wrongdoers from unjustly enriching themselves through violations. . . .
[D]isgorgement forces a defendant to account for all profits reaped through his securities
law violations . . . .” SECv. Cavanagh, 445 F.3d 105, 117 (2d Cir. 2006). Thus, the Brokers
should not receive any recovery on account of the Broker Claims that is funded by the
amount the Brokers have been ordered to disgorge, or $169,415. Thus, if the Broker Claims
are not disallowed or subordinated, the receivership funds available for recovery for
purposes of calculating a distribution to the Brokers, if any, on account of the Broker Claims

should be reduced by $169,415.

-10-
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SUMMARY PROCEEDINGS

The Receiver has provided the Brokers listed on Exhibit A to the Motion
appropriate notice and sufficient time to respond to the Motion. Accordingly, the Receiver
has complied with the claim objection and notice procedures set forth in the Federal Rules
of Bankruptcy Procedure (“Bankruptcy Rules”) as a form of best expression of law.
Bankruptcy Rule 3007 requires that a claim objection must be filed and served at least thirty
days before any scheduled hearing and that the objection must be served on the claimant by
first class mail. Fed. R. Bankr. P. 3007(a)(1), (2).

The Receiver requests that the Court enter an order granting the relief
requested in the Motion and this Supplement without a hearing with respect to those Broker
Claims for which an objection is not timely interposed. Disallowance of a claim without a
hearing where there is no factual dispute is an appropriate and preferred procedure in
federal receivership cases. See S.E.C. v. Elliott, 953 F.2d 1560, 1566 (11th Cir. 1992) (holding
that summary proceedings are favored in federal receivership cases because a summary
proceeding “reduces the time necessary to settle disputes, decreases litigation costs, and
prevents further dissipation of receivership assets”); United States v. Fairway Capital Corp., 433
F. Supp. 2d 226, 241 (D. R.1. 2006) (“Receivership courts can employ summary procedures

in allowing, disallowing and subordinating claims of creditors”).

-11 -
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CONCLUSION

The Receiver requests that the Court enter an Order substantially in the form
attached to the Motion as Exhibit B disallowing, or, in the alternative, equitably
subordinating the Broker Claims, together with such other and further relief as the Court

deems just and proper.

Dated: January 29, 2019
PHILLIPS LYTLE LLP

By__/s/ Catherine N. Eisenhut
William J. Brown (Bar Roll #601330)

Catherine N. Eisenhut (Bar Roll #520849)
Attorneys for Receiver

Omni Plaza

30 South Pearl Street

Albany, New York 12207

Telephone No. (518) 472-1224

and
One Canalside
125 Main Street

Buffalo, New York 14203
Telephone No.: (716) 847-8400

Doc #01-3171324.3

-12 -
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Exhibit A
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UNITED STATESOF AMERICA
Beforethe
SECURITIESAND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SECURITIESACT OF 1933
Release No. 10595 / December 21, 2018

SECURITIESEXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Release No. 84913 / December 21, 2018

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING
FileNo. 3-15514

In the Matter of ORDER MAKING FINDINGS AND
IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS

FRANK H. CHIAPPONE, AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER
ANDREW G. GUZZETTI, PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
WILLIAM F. LEX, SECURITIESACT OF 1933 AND
THOMASE. LIVINGSTON, SECTIONS 15(b) AND 21C OF THE
BRIAN T. MAYER, and SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
PHILIPS. RABINOVICH, 1934

Respondents.

Ph|||p S. Rabi nowch TR S
appea by the Respondents to the Commission was pending and fully briefed, the Commission
remanded the case to Chlef Judge M urray for reass gnment to anew Administrative Law Judge

has determined to accept in Ilght of Luua V. SEC Solely for the purpose of theee proceedlngs
and any other proceedings brought by or on behaf of the Commission, or to which the
Commlsson isaparty, and W|thout admitting or denying the findings herein, except asto the

5% 5¢ Snesnooread Suamsassemnier s espondents and the subject matter of these proceedings, which
are admltted Respondents consent to the entry of this Order Making Findings and Imposing
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Remedlal Sanctl ons Pursuant to Sectlon 8A of the SecuntleﬁAct of 1933 and Sections 15(b) and

Reﬁpondents knowi ngly and voluntan ly waive any cIa| m or enti tI ement to such anew hean ng
before another ALJ or the Commission itself. Respondents also knowingly and voluntarily
waive any and all challenges to the administrative proceedings or any and al orders that were
issued during or at the conclusion of those proceedings, whether before the ALJ, the
Commission, or any court, based upon any alleged or actual defect in the appointment of ALJ
BrendaMurray.

2

S o Bi¥s, the Commission finds that:
A. RESPONDENTS

1. Frank H. Chlappone 63 yearsold, isaresdent of Clifton Park, NY. He was
regi stered W|th H%E Jut: u Sé& Co. [&rom February 1989 to December

2. Andrew G. Guzzetti, 71 years old, isaresident of Saratoga Springs, NY. He was
reg| stered W|th M S & Co. from September 2004 to December 2009, and worked from MS &

3. William F. Lex, 72 years old, is aresident of Phoenixville, PA. He was registered
with MS & Co. from January 1983 to December 2009, and was based in King of Prussia,
Pennsylvania. In October 2010, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority suspended Lex for
failure to pay a FINRA arbitration award concerning an MS & Co. private placement customer.

4. ThomasE. Livingston, 60 yearsold, isaresdent of Slingerlands, NY. He was
registered with MS & Co. from October 1988 to December 2009, and became a 20% sharehol der
of McGinn Smith Holdi £585g 56 f&1 S Holdings i 2004.

5. Brian T. Mayer, 45 years old, isaresident of Princeton, NJ. Mayer was
registered with MS & Co. from July 2001 to December 2009 and McGinn Smlth Advisors, LLC
B4 S Advisors &from February 2006 to April 2009, and worked |5 | 5755 [ 7 S5t 54 5% | 5 RSt
City branch office.

6. Philip S. Rabinovich, 44 yearsold, isaresident of Roslyn, NY. He was
registered with MS & Co. from July 2001 to December 2009 and M'S Advisors from August
2006 to December 2009 55 i Foiiiss Eas | 54 s | 11 wasNew Y ork City branch office.

B. RELEVANT ENTITIESAND INDIVIDUALS

7. MS & Co., aNew Y ork corporation founded in 1980 by David Smith and
Timothy McGinn, had its principal place of business at 99 Pine Street, Albany, NY, and

2
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maintained branch offices at Clifton Park, NY, New Y ork City, and King of Prussia, PA. MS &
Co. was registered with the Commission as a broker-dealer beginning in 1980 and as an
investment adviser in April 2009. It was owned by Smith (50%), McGinn (50%; 30% after
2004), and Livingston (20% after 2004). From 2003 to 2009, MS & Co. had about 55 employees,
including about 35 registered representatives. On December 24, 2009, MS & Co. filed a partial
BD-W. On March 9, 2010, MS & Co. also W|thdrew |tS|nve$tment adviser registration. FINRA
terminated M S [ 521 i Seay baed 4 14 | 5¢ Seb & i HoB s 10 e o

8. M S Advisorswas a New Y ork corporation formed in 2003 with its principal
place of business at 99 Pine Street, Albany, New Y ork. MS Advisors was owned by Smith
(50%), McGinn (30%) and Livingston (20%). MS Advisors was registered as an investment
adviser with the Commission from January 3, 2006 to April 24, 2009, and was the investment
adviser to the Four Funds (defined below) until April 2009, when it was replaced by MS & Co.

9. M S Holdings was owned by Smith (50%), McGinn (30%) and Livingston (20%).

10. 58 BR3B Sa@n L T35 dBpaE samssensaayas a New Y ork
corporation formed in 1989 W|th |ts pr|nC| paI pI ace of bus ness at 99 Plne Street, Albany, New
York. MS Capital was owned by MS Holdings (52%), McGinn (24%) and Smith (24%). MS
Capital was the indenture trustee, the servicing agent and the collateral agent for the Four Funds,
and the trustee for all the Trusts created between 2006 and 2009. Smith was president and
McGinn was chairman of the board.

11.  TheFour Fundswere New Y ork limited liability companies, whose managing
member was MS Advisors. MS & Co. served as the placement agent for the Four Funds
offerings, and M S Capital acted as the Trustee. The Four Funds shared offices with MS & Co.

and the other McGinn Smith entities at 99 Pine Street, Albany, NY. The Four Funds offerings

arelisted below, along Wlth the contractual rate of return, the maximum amount of the offering,
S s e e A P Wy v | ey | O O

€) First Independent Incom| 5 & fessiass &
mill |on) (9/15/03);
,.;Z"' .' vift: .-' ._“:;_-»_._-{- !" i

(b)
(©)
(d)

million) (10/1/05).

12.  TheTrust Offeri ings were offerings by specia purpose entities, created to invest
R L S D A T 3 T B s R A DR PR U R L L A S
luxury cruises. MS & Co. acted as a placement agent and M S Capital acted as Trustee for the
Trust Offerings. The Trust Offerings are listed below, dong with the contractua rate of return,
the maximum amount of the offering, and the date of the PPM:

(8  TDM Cable Trust 06, 7.75%/9.25% ($3,550,000) (11/13/06)
(b)  TDM Verifier Trust 07, 8.25%/9% ($3,475,000) (2/23/07)
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(c) Firstline Senior Trust 07, 9.25% ($1,850,000) (5/19/07)

(d) Firstline Trust 07, 11% ($1,867,000) (5/19/07)

(e Firstline Senior Trust 07 Series B, 9.5% ($1,435,000) (10/19/07)

) TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07, 10% ($3,630,000 (7/16/07)

(9) Firstline Trust 07 Series B, 11% ($2,115,000) (10/19/07)

(h)  TDM Verifier Trust 08, 8.50%/10% ($3,850,000) (12/17/07)

) Cruise Charter Ventures Trust 08, 13% ($3,250,000) (2/14/08)

() Integrated Excellence Sr. Trust 08, 9% ($900,000) (5/30/08)

(k) Integrated Excellence Jr. Trust 08, 10% ($580,000) (5/30/08) (1) Fortress
Trust 08, 13% ($3,060,000) (9/24/08)

(m)  TDM Cable Trust 06, 10% ($1,380,000) (11/17/08)

(n)  TDM Verifier Trust 09, 10% ($1,300,000) (12/15/08)

(o) TDMM Cable Jr Trust 09, 11% ($1,325,000) (1/19/09)

(p) TDMM Cable Sr. Trust 09, 9% ($1,550,000) (1/19/09)

(q)  TDM Verifier Trust 07R, 9% ($2,100,000) (2/2/09)

(n) TDM Verifier Trust 08R, 9% ($2,005,000) (7/6/09)

(9 TDMM Benchmark Trust 09, 8%, 9%, 10%, 11%, 12% ($3,000,000)
(8/20/09)

(t) TDM Verifier Trust 11, 9% ($1,550,000) (9/3/09)

(u) Cruise Charter Ventures, LLC, 12% ($400,000) (9/25/09)

13. 35BS 4 Sanarcha e 1130 3k avaand basis | 225 11 akvas @ New York corporation
formed in 2008. MS& Co. wasthesaleﬁ agent for the$10 m|II|on MSTF offering on April 22,
2008.

14.  Timothy M. McGinn was the chairman, secretary and co-owner of MS & Co.
From July 2003 through M ay 2006 M cGr nn served as CEO of Integrated AIarm Servr ces Group
»l.‘llfﬂ_ E E1 B EVED EE(ES == 1l :.I”“ DEE] € ECES B

McGinn from aseocratrng with any Fl NRA mernber In February 2013, ajury in the Northern
District of New Y ork found McGinn guilty of multiple counts of mail and wire fraud, securities
fraud, and filing false tax returns. In August 2013, McGinn was sentenced to 15 yearsin prison..

15.  David L. Smith wasthe president and chief executive officer of MS & Co. and
the manager of the Four Funds. Until 2007, Smith was a so the chief compliance officer of MS &
Co. In September 2011, FINRA permanently barred Smith from associating with any FINRA
member. In February 2013, ajury in the Northern District of New Y ork found Smith guilty of
multiple counts of mail and wire fraud, securities fraud, and filing false tax returns. On August 7,
2013, Smith was sentenced to 10 years in prison.

C. THE DISTRICT COURT ACTION

16.  On April 20, 2010, the Commission filed acivil action in the United States
D|r|ct Court fr the Northern Drstrrct of New York aga| nst McGinn, Smrth and numerous

them with securrtres fraud and other federaI securities vroI ations |n connectr on wi th the actr ons
deecrr bed herern SeeSEC V. McGrnn Smrth & Co | nc., et aI _ 10-CV 457 (N D N. Y ) (GLSﬂ
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for atemporary restraining order and appointed a Receiver over the McGinn Smith Entities. See
id. (Dkt Nos. 4, 5 96) All the McGinn Smith EntitiesncludlngMS& Co MSAdwsorsMS

PursuanttoaCourt- e SF FICASH DN i
distributing collected assets to investors. Id (Dkt No 904).

D. OVERVIEW

17.  Chiappone, Lex, Mayer, and Rabinovich were among the top- selling brokers at
MS & Co. Livingston sold MS & Co. private placements and was an MS & Co. principal.
Guzzetti was amanaging director at MS & Co. and he supervised the MS & Co. brokers. Based
on the conduct described below

€) Chlappone Lex, Livingston, Mayer, and Rabinovich | F55: ik iakiea:

& paseyi ol ated Section 17(a)(2) and (3) of the SecuntleﬁAct
by negllgently failing to perform sufficient due diligence to form a
reasonable basis for their recommendations of the Four Funds and
Trust Offerings to their customers.

(b) Guzzetti failed reasonably to supervise the Selling Respondents, with a
view to preventing their violations, pursuant to Section 15(b)(6),
incorporating by reference Section 15(b)(4)(E) of the Exchange Act.

E. THE MS& CO. OFFERINGS

18.  David Smith and Timothy McGinn created and controlled the Four Funds and
Trust Offerings. The offerings raised more than $125 million from more than 750 investors.
Investor losses exceeded $87 million.

19.  The Four Funds offerings raised at least $85 million. Smith controlled the issuers,
prepared the PPMSs, set the terms of the offerings, controlled the investor money, and made al
the investment decisions. Pursuant to the PPM's, Four Funds investors were to receive quarterly
mtereet payments and a return of pr|nC| ipal upon matunty Each offenng had three tranches the

} B T § o i -

almost no secured assets subject to forfelture in the event that apart| cular Fund falled

21.  According to the PPMs, MS & Co., asthe placement agent, was to receive a
commlsson of 2% ofthe offenng proceeds. In addltlon accordl ng to the PPMS thebrokers were

22.  AsthePPMsfor the offerings stated, each of the Four Funds was:
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formed to identify and acquire various public and/or private
investments, which may include, without limitation, debt
securities, collateralized debt obligations, bonds, equity securities,
trust preferred, collateralized stock, convertible stock, bridge loans,
leases, mortgages, equipment leases, securitized cash flow
instruments, and any other investments that may add value to our
portfolio . . ..

23.  Smith invested proceeds of the Four Fundsin entities that were affiliated with MS
& Co., in venture capital investments, and purchased $12.8 million of pre-2003 MS & Co.
offeri ngs to pay mtereet or redempt| onsto mveetors For example Smi th invested $8.8 millionin
BT ECER A SRR

[ nvestors.

24, In 2006, McGinn returned to MS & Co. on afull-time basis after nearly three
years as CEO of IASG. McGinn created the twenty-one Trust Offerings, plus MSTF, that raised
over $41 million. The Trust Offerings funded entities engaged in specific areas, such as burglar
alarm service, triple play service, or luxury cruises. The PPMsfor the Trust Offerings identified
Livingston as the Treasurer for the Trustee, MS Holdings.

25.  Smith and McGinn misused investor fundsraised for the Trust Offerings. For
example, they took for personal use millions of dollarsin offering proceeds, used investor funds
to pay earlier noteholders, and used the Trust Offering proceedsto satisfy liquidity needs for
other MS & Co. entities.

1. Red Flags Surrounding the Four Funds Offerings.

26.  Chiappone, Lex, Livingston, Mayer, and Rabinovich were negligent in not
performing adequate due diligence in order to form areasonable basis for their recommendations
of the Four Funds to their customers. The PPMs for the Four Funds made disclosures that should
have caused the Selling Respondents, as associated persons of a broker-dealer, to conduct
additional inquiries.

a The PPMs disclosed conflicts of interest between the issuersand MS &
Co. Smith owned and controlled each of the issuers % which were new,
single- purpose entities with no operating history! % as well as the
placement agent (MS & Co.) and the trustee. Smith also had total control
over the disposition of investor funds, with no oversight or control. Asa
result, the Respondents should have made specific inquiries as to how
customer money would be invested before recommending the Four Funds
to their customers; and

b. The PPMs stated that the Four Funds could engage in reI ated party
| HESSFAAE by RS Serisy Vbt | s 5o Seariboares
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offerrngs for which [MS & Co.] isacti ng as underwrlter or pI acement
SE4Ear e SF o8 HORdi IFSAS & ) 30U ARIA oo A990H [ /SHESESE SiaF B Gesg e

\ 031452 : 43 e eﬁpondents should have made
specifici |nqur ries regardr ng the entitiesinto which customer money would
be invested before recommending the Four Funds to their customers.

27.  From the commencement of the FIIN offering in September 2003 until January
2008, Smith provided the MS & Co. brokers with scant information about how he had invested
the offering proceeds. Questions by the brokers were deflected with the claim that Smith had
made loans to local Albany businesses with Four Funds proceeds, and those businesses desired
anonymity. |55 Bissstef usal to provide meaningful information should have prompted the
Respondents to further question the propriety of the Four Funds.

2. Red Flags Surrounding the Trust Offerings.

28.  OnJanuary 8, 2008, Smith and McGinn held an al-day meeting to inform MS &
Co. brokers that the Four Funds were in default, that payments to investors would be curtailed,
and that the offerings would be restructured.

29.  After January 2008, there were thirteen offerings by MSTF and the Trusts, which
raised at least $20 million. The Selling Respondents continued to sell these offerings under
Tt Reiiireaasd beenmmnanr A S a result of the accumulation of red flags since the launch of the Four
Funds in September 2003, the Respondents should have conducted additional inquiries regarding
any MS & Co. private placement before recommending them to their customers.

30.  TheTrust PPMs, like the Four Funds PPMs, raised red flags that should have
caused the Respondents, as associated persons of a broker-deal er, to conduct additional inquiries
prror to recommendr ng the products to therr customers For example the August 2009 TDMM

EVEETEY EFET EF FEIEEEIE Ry T oo e, | SERRAR ooy haEn ey 5 bawn EstamRenchmark promised an
8to 12% rate of return during at| me when the prime rate was only 3.25%. Also, the PPM
disclosed that only $1,950,000 (approximately 65%) of the total $3 million raised would actually
be invested, with the remainder taken as in fees. Chiappone, Mayer, and Rabinovich, who
recommended the Benchmark offering, did so without inquiring how MS & Co. intended to
make 8 [512% interest payments and redeem the principal upon maturity while taking over one-
third of the money raised in fees.

31 Moreover, Respondents failed to check publicly-available information regarding
offered the October 2007 Firstline Trust offering. In this offering, a McGinn Smith affiliate
loaned the offering proceeds to Firstline Securities, Inc., a Utah corporation that sold reﬂ dentlal
alarm contracts. At the time of the offering, McGinn knew of threats by | THEiSSEaarmaY S48 eandus s searos |
was involved in trying to resolve the disputes. After the creditors filed suit, in January 2008
Firstline filed avoluntary petition for Chapter 11 bankruptcy in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for
the District of Utah. Lex, Chiappone, Rabinovich and Mayer sold Firstline trust certificates after
the bankruptcy filing. Respondents were unaware of the bankruptcy filing until McGinn finally
disclosed it to them on September 3, 2009.
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F. COMMISSIONSEARNED ONMS & CO. PRIVATE PLACEMENTS

earned $23 329 in commissions on sales of M S & Co prrvate pI acements

33.  Within the statutory period for disgorgement, Lex earned $72,726 in commissions
on salesof MS & Co. private placements.

34.  Within the statutory period for disgorgement, Livingston earned $700 in
commissions on sales of MS & Co. private placements.

35.  Within the statutory period for disgorgement, Mayer earned $17,791 in
commissions on sales of MS & Co. private placements.

36.  Within the statutory period for disgorgement, Rabinovich earned $53,029 in
commissions on sales of MS & Co. private placements.

G. GUZZETTI FAILED REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE

37. AtMS& Co., Guzzetti was Head of Retail Sales, Managing Director, Private
Client Group, and a Branch Manager. During this period, Guzzetti supervised MS & Co.
registered representatives with regard to the Four Funds and Trust Offerings.

38.  Guzzetti had direct supervisory responsibilities for the Selling Respondents. He
carried out numerous managerial duties, including recruiting and hiring MS & Co. employees,
assigning and reassigning customers to brokers; eval uating employee performances and
awarding commissions; addressing customer grievances, answering employee questions
regarding firm; and issuing instruction and guidance regarding specific financial products and
transactions, administrative issues, and broader firm policy.

39.  Guzzetti also sent regular e-mails summarizing MS & Co. products available for
sale to customers and encouraged brokers torecommend them to customers In a February 2006

40.  Guzzetti had aduty to investigate red flags that suggest misconduct may be
occurring and to take action when made aware of suspicious conduct. Had Guzzetti responded
reasonably to the red flags, he would have prevented the underlying violations committed by
Chiappone, Lex, Livingston, Mayer, and Rabinovich.

H. VIOLATIONS

41.  Asareault of the negligent conduct described above, Chiappone, Lex, Livingston,
Mayer, and Rabinovich violated Section 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act.

42.  Asareault of the conduct described above, Guzzetti failed reasonably to

8
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supervise the Selling Respondents pursuant to Section 15(b)(6), incorporating by reference
Section 15(b)(4)(E) of the Exchange Act, with aview to preventing their violations of Section
17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act, as set forth herein.

V.

In view of the foregoing, the Commission deems it appropriate and in the public interest
to impose the sanctions agreed to in the Offer.

Accordingly, pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act and Sections 15(b) and 21C of
the Exchange Act, it is hereby ORDERED that:

A. Chiappone, Lex, Livingston, Mayer, and Rabinovich shall cease and desist from
committing or causing violations of and any future violations of Section 17(a)(2) and (3) of the
Securities Act;

B. Livingston shall, within 30 days of the entry of this Order, pay acivil money
penalty in the amount of $85,000 in accordance with the instructions in paragraph IV (F), below.
If timely payment is not made, additional interest shall accrue pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3717,

C. Guzzetti shall, within 30 days of the entry of this Order, pay acivil money penalty
in the amount of $20,000 in accordance with the instructionsin paragraph IV (F), below. If timely
payment is not made, additional interest shall accrue pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3717;

D. Chiappone, Lex, Livingston, Mayer, and Rabinovich shall pay disgorgement and
prejudgment interest as set forth in paragraphs 1V (D)(1) 5V (D)(5), below. Payments shall be
made in accordance with the instructions in paragraph IV (F), below. If timely payment is not
made, additional interest shall accrue pursuant to SEC Rule of Practice 600.

1. Chiappone shall pay disgorgement of $23,329 and prejudgment interest of
$3181.49 in three equal installments of $8836.83, the first of which is due within 30 days of this
Order, the second of which is due within 180 days of this Order, and the third of which isdue
within 364 days of this Order.

2. Lex shall, within 30 days of the entry of this Order, pay disgorgement of
$72,726 and prejudgment interest of $9,918.02.

3. Livingston shall, within 30 days of the entry of this Order, pay
disgorgement of $700 and prejudgment interest of $95.48.

4, Mayer shall, within 30 days of the entry of this Order, pay disgorgement
of $17,791 and prejudgment interest of $2426.24.

5. Rabinovich shall, within 30 days of the entry of this Order, pay
disgorgement of $53,029 and prejudgment interest of $7231.84.

E. Pursuant to Section 308(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, a Fair
Fund is created for the penalties referenced in paragraphs 1V (B) and IV (C), above. Amounts

9
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ordered to be paid as civil money penalties pursuant to this Order shall be treated as penalties
paid to the government for all purposes, including all tax purposes. To preserve the deterrent
effect of the civil penalty, Respondents each agree that in any Related Investor Action, he shall
ot argue that he |s entrtIed to nor shaII he benefrt by, offset or reductr on of any award of

KBRSy bareh o ERAESH inon S+ aasen S L ESRE ’ctrongrantssuchaPenaIty
Offset Reﬁpondents each agree that he shaII wrthrn 30 days after entry of af|naI order grant| ng

Penalty Offset to the Securrtres and Exchange Commrssron Suchapayment shaII not be deemed
an addrtronal crvrl penaIty and shaII not be deemed to changethe amount of the crvrl penaIty

prrvate damag% actron brought against any R%pndent by or on behaIf of one or more mveﬂors
based on substantially the same facts as alleged in the Order instituted by the Commission in this
proceeding.

F. Respondents shall satisfy their payment obligations set forth in paragraphs IV (B) &
(D) of this Order by submitting payments to William J. Brown, the court-appointed Receiver in
the District Court Action, for inclusion in the receivership estate established in that action and
drstrrbutron pursuant to the court- approved Plan. Payment shaII be (i) made by United States
it € Moo ' ffffH = M—ifﬁ 5f ﬁlH- P 'l SO E.f GHn13E Smea

Phillips Lytle LLP, Omnr PIaza 30 South Pearl Street, Albany, New Y ork 12207; and (D)
submitted under cover letter that identifies the Respondent(s) submitting the payment and the
name and number of this administrative proceeding (Frank Chiappone, et al., Admin. Proc. No.
3-15514) and enclosing a copy of this Order. Further, Respondents shall simultaneoudy transmit
photocopies of evidence of payment, the cover |etter sent to the Receiver, and this Order to Lara
Shalov Mehraban, Associate Regional Director, Division of Enforcement, Securities and
Exchange Commission, 200 Vesey Street, Suite 400, New York, NY 10281. By making the
payments required under this Order, the Respondents relinquish all legal and equitableright,
title, and interest in such funds and no part of the funds shall be returned to the Respondents.

V.

It is further Ordered that, solely for purposes of exceptionsto discharge set forth in
Section 523 of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 523, the findingsin this Order are true and
admitted by Respondents, and further, any debt for disgorgement, prejudgment interest, civil
penalty or other amounts due by Respondents under this Order or any other judgment, order,
consent order, decree or settlement agreement entered in connection with this proceeding, isa
debt for the violation by Respondents of the federal securitieslaws or any regulation or order
issued under such laws, as set forth in Section 523(a)(19) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. §
523(8)(19).

By the Commission.

Brent J. Fields
Secretary

10
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Plaintiff,
: Case No. 1:10-CV-457
Vs. : (GLS/CFH))

McGINN, SMITH & CO., INC.,

McGINN, SMITH ADVISORS, LLC

McGINN, SMITH CAPITAL HOLDINGS CORP.,
FIRST ADVISORY INCOME NOTES, LLC,
FIRST EXCELSIOR INCOME NOTES, LLC,
FIRST INDEPENDENT INCOME NOTES, LLC,
THIRD ALBANY INCOME NOTES, LLC,
TIMOTHY M. McGINN, AND

DAVID L. SMITH, GEOFFREY R. SMITH,
Individually and as Trustee of the David L. and
Lynn A. Smith Irrevocable Trust U/A 8/04/04,
LAUREN T. SMITH, and NANCY McGINN,

Defendants,

LYNN A. SMITH and
NANCY McGINN,

Relief Defendants. and
GEOFFREY R. SMITH, Trustee of the
David L. and Lynn A. Smith Irrevocable
Trust U/A 8/04/04,

Intervenor. :
X

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Karen M. Ludlow, being at all times over 18 years of age, hereby certify
that on January 29, 2019, a true and correct copy of the Supplement to Third Motion of
William J. Brown, as Receiver, for an Order Disallowing Certain Claims (Broker Claims)
(“Motion”) was caused to be served by e-mail upon all parties who receive electronic notice
in this case pursuant to the Court’s ECF filing system, and by First Class Mail to the parties
indicated below:

William J. Brown wbrown@phillipslytle.com,khatch@phillipslytle.com

Roland M. Cavalier rcavalier@tcglegal.com

Certain McGinn Smith Investors apark@weirpartners.com

Frank H. Chiappone chiappone55@gmail.com

Linda J. Clark Iclark@barclaydamon.com,jsmith@hiscockbarclay.com

Elizabeth C. Coombe elizabeth.c.coombe@usdoj.gov, CaseView.ECF@usdoj.gov,

kelly.ciccarelli@usdoj.gov

o William J. Dreyer wdreyer@dreyerboyajian.com, lburkart@dreyerboyajian.com,
bhill@dreyerboyajian.com,lowens@dreyerboyajian.com,coconnell@dreyerboyajian.com

o Catherine N. Eisenhut ceisenhut@phillipslytle.com
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Scott J. Ely sely@elylawpllc.com,shm@fwec-law.com

James D. Featherstonhaugh jdf@fwc-law.com,jsm@fwc-law.com,cr@fwc-
law.com,shm@fwc-law.com

Brad M. Gallagher bgallagher@barclaydamon.com

James H. Glavin , IV hglavin@glavinandglavin.com

Bonnie R. Golub bgolub@weirpartners.com

James E. Hacker hacker@joneshacker.com, sfebus@joneshacker.com,
thiggs@joneshacker.com

Erin K. Higgins EHiggins@ckrpf.com

Benjamin W. Hill ben@benhilllaw.com, rmchugh@dreyerboyajian.com,
coconnell@dreyerboyajian.com

E. Stewart Jones , Jr esjones@joneshacker.com,m
leonard@joneshacker.com,pcampione@joneshacker.com,kjones@joneshacker.com
Edward T. Kang ekang@khflaw.com, zbinder@khflaw.com,
jarcher@khflaw.com,kkovalsky@khflaw.com

Nickolas J. Karavolas nkaravolas@phillipslytle.com

Jack Kaufman kaufmanja@sec.gov

Michael A. Kornstein mkornstein@coopererving.com

James P. Lagios james.lagios@rivkin.com, kathyleen.ganser@rivkin.com,
Stanley.Tartaglia@rivkin.com

Kevin Laurilliard laurilliard@mltw.com

James D. Linnan jdlinnan@linnan-fallon.com,lawinfo@linnan-fallon.com
Haimavathi V. Marlier marlierh@sec.gov

Jonathan S. McCardle jsm@fwc-law.com

Kevin P. McGrath mcgrathk@sec.gov

Lara S. Mehraban mehrabanl@sec.gov,marlierh@sec.gov

Michael J. Murphy mmurphy@carterconboy.com, epappas@-carterconboy.com,
abell@carterconboy.com

Craig H. Norman cnorman@chnesg.com, jbugos@coopererving.com
Andrew Park apark@weirpartners.com,imarciniszyn@weirpartners.com
Thomas E. Peisch TPeisch@ckrpf.com,apower@ckrpf.com

Terri L. Reicher Terri.Reicher@finra.org

Sheldon L. Solow sheldon.solow@kayescholer.com,
kenneth.anderson@kayescholer.com

David P. Stoelting stoeltingd@sec.gov,
mehrabanl@sec.gov,mcgrathk@sec.gov,paleym@sec.gov,wbrown@phillipslytle.com
Charles C. Swanekamp cswanekamp@bsk.com,mhepple@bsk.com

Bryan M. Westhoff bryan.westhoff@kayescholer.com

Benjamin Zelermyer bzlaw@optonline.net,seincav@aol.com
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And, T hereby certify that on January 29, 2019, I mailed, via first class mail using the
United States Postal Service, a copy of the Motion to the individuals listed below:

Nancy McGinn
426-8th Avenue
Troy, NY 12182

Michael L. Koenig, Esq.
Greenberg Traurig, LLP
54 State Street, 6th Floor
Albany, NY 12207

RBS Citizen, N.A.

Cooper Erving & Savage LLP
39 North Pearl Street

4th Floor

Albany, NY 12207

Charles C. Swanekamp, Esq.
Bond, Schoeneck & King PLLC
Avant Building - Suite 900

200 Delaware Avenue

Buffalo, NY 14202-2107

Frank Chiappone
3 Dutchess Path
Clifton Park, NY 12065

Kimellen & William Lex
450 Langdale Court
King of Prussia, PA 19406

Kathleen Lex

165 Country Lane
Phoenixville, PA 19460
Kimellen Lex

450 Langdale Court

King of Prussia, PA 19406

Dated: January 29, 2019

Doc #01-3219903.1

Thomas J Urbelis

Urbelis & Fieldsteel, LLP
155 Federal Street
Boston, MA 02110-1727

Martin H. Kaplan, Esq.

Gusrae, Kaplan, Bruno & Nusbaum PLLC
120 Wall Street

New York, NY 10005

Iseman, Cunningham, Riester & Hyde, LLP
9 Thurlow Terrace
Albany, NY 12203

David G. Newcomb
Judith A. Newcomb

224 Independence Way
Mount Bethel, PA 18343

Philip Rabinovich
40 Chestnut Drive
Roslyn, NY 11576

William Lex
491 Allendale Road
King of Prussia, PA 19406

William & Kathleen Lex
165 Country Lane
Phoenixville, PA 19460

/s/ Karen M. Ludlow
Karen M. Ludlow




